

CIGI PAPERS NO. 24 — JANUARY 2014

# THE EQUATOR PRINCIPLES: TEN TEENAGE YEARS OF IMPLEMENTATION AND A SEARCH FOR OUTCOME

OLAF WEBER AND EMMANUEL ACHETA

# THE EQUATOR PRINCIPLES: TEN TEENAGE YEARS OF IMPLEMENTATION AND A SEARCH FOR OUTCOME

**Olaf Weber and Emmanuel Acheta** 

The opinions expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of The Centre for International Governance Innovation or its Operating Board of Directors or International Board of Governors.



This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution — Non-commercial — No Derivatives License. To view this license, visit (www.creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/). For re-use or distribution, please include this copyright notice.



57 Erb Street West Waterloo, Ontario N2L 6C2 Canada tel +1 519 885 2444 fax +1 519 885 5450 www.cigionline.org

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

- 4 About the Authors
- 4 About the Project
- 4 Acronyms
- 4 Executive Summary
- 4 Introduction
- 5 History and Development of the EPs
- 7 Project Finance
- 8 Project Finance Sustainability Risks
  - 8 The Sakhalin II Project
- **10** The EPs as an Example of a Private Code of Conduct
- **10** EP Revisions
  - 11 Changes Reflecting Priorities and Recommendations from the EP Strategic Review
  - 11 Changes to Align with the Updated IFC Performance Standards
  - 12 Changes to Address Consistency and Support EP Implementation
- **13** Conclusion: The EPs A Successful Tool or Window Dressing?
- 14 Works Cited
- **16** About CIGI
- 16 CIGI Masthead

# **ABOUT THE AUTHORS**

**Olaf Weber** is associate professor at the School for Environment, Enterprise and Development and holds the Export Development Canada Chair in Environmental Finance. His research and teaching interests are in the area of environmental and sustainable finance with a focus on sustainable financial and credit risk management, socially responsible investment, social banking, and the link between sustainability and financial performance of enterprises. Part of this research is financial risk and opportunities caused by carbon markets and carbon regulations. Before joining the University of Waterloo, he was head of the Sustainable Banking Group of the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, Zurich.

**Emmanuel Acheta** is a doctoral student at the University of Waterloo's Faculty of Environment, Department of Environmental and Resource Studies in the Sustainability Policy and Governance Program. Heholds a B.Com. (honours) from Makerere University, Kampala, Uganda, and is an M.B.A. in financial management graduate from Wilfrid Laurier's School of Business and Economics. He is an equator principles researcher whose doctoral work examines the social and environmental outcomes of Equator Principles on project finance and on project risk management.

### **ABOUT THE PROJECT**

The project plans to analyze the effect of the Equator Principles (EP) for project finance on both the sustainability impact of projects and on risk assessment procedures of financial institutions that have adopted the principles (EPFI). Based on the results, researchers will develop policy recommendations for improving the outcome of the EPs. Though the EPs are used by EPFIs globally their impact on both the sustainability of projects and on project assessment processes is still unclear. The project will contribute to an effective use of the EPs and to the environmental and social sustainability of assessed and financed projects.

Project leader: Olaf Weber

Project member: Emmanuel Acheta

#### ACRONYMS

EBRD	European Bank for Reconstruction and Development
EP	Equator Principle
EPFIs	Equator Principles Financial Institutions
GHG	greenhouse gas
IFC	International Finance Corporation
IM & R	independent monitoring and reporting
LNG	liquefied natural gas
NGO	non-governmental organization
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
SEIC	Sakhalin Energy Investment Company

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

The Equator Principles (EPs) for project finance were launched 10 years ago. These 10 years of existence can be equated to the phase of an adolescent still seeking to establish relevance in an atmosphere of flux and uncertainty. Equator Principles Financial Institutions (EPFIs) have increased from the original 10 founding members to 78 members as of November 2013, responsible for about 80 percent of the global project finance. This demonstrates that environmental and social assessment of projects is increasing in global adoption and scope. The analysis in this paper demonstrates that the EPs strive to redefine social and environmental assessment practices in order to integrate environmental and social needs into project assessments. On the other hand, critics reason that without fundamental implementation efforts and enforcement, the EPs are a mere window-dressing adventure and will not contribute to any change with respect to sustainable development. Of particular importance are gaps in how EPFIs address the implementation of the guidelines in project finance decision making, how they implement environmental and social assessment processes in practice and, perhaps more importantly, whether the implementation will have a positive effect on project sustainability. Future analyses and research should address these gaps.

### INTRODUCTION

EPs, launched 10 years ago, are a financial industry benchmark for managing environmental and social risks.<sup>1</sup> These 10 years of existence can be equated to the phase

<sup>1</sup> To learn more, see www.equator-principles.com.

of an adolescent still seeking to establish relevance in an atmosphere of flux and uncertainty. This paper shows that as of November 2013, EPFIs have increased from the original 10 founding members to 78 members, which demonstrates that environmental and social assessment of projects is increasing in global adoption and scope; thus, prospective sustainability risks associated with project finance abound, taking three forms. The first is the risk to the environment, society and particularly the communities in which the projects are situated. Second are the environmental, social and sustainability risks that impact the financial performance of projects. Third are reputational risks for the financiers that are associated with financed projects. These risks drive and dominate the discussion agenda of EPFIs, non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and other stakeholders. The EPs, as also expected of recent private transnational regimes, continue to attract perspectives, debates and contestations in regard to implementation and compliance. This paper is based on a literature review comprising mainly academic literature, as well as a few non-academic sources. It outlines open questions about the EPs' characteristics for further, mainly empirical, research and discussion.

In recognition of a decade-long experience, application outcomes and stakeholder input, the EPs have undergone changes meant to share lessons learned, but also to proactively engage with evolving contemporary issues, concerns and stakeholders. Three changes have since evolved. First, from the EP Strategic Review Process, premised on the EP Association priorities and recommendations, such as climate change, changes in regard to EP scope and reporting have been made. Second, changes from the International Finance Corporation's (IFC) own evolving policies; the IFC being the other EP progenitor, in regard to sustainability issues and assessments thereof. Third, there are changes to address consistency and support implementation - specifically, information sharing, country designation and language clarification.

Unsurprisingly, therefore, the overall review of the EPs more than 10 years later is mixed. First, proponents argue that the EPs are touted as bold — if not visionary — principles that are on course to redefine social and environmental practices for the good of sustainable finance. In contrast, critics reason that without radical implementation and enforcement, the EPs are merely window dressing.

Even against the reservations identified in the literature, the EPs hold the promise and potential to contribute to social and environmental sustainability. For this to come to fruition, the present gaps in the EPs will need to be filled. Of particular importance are gaps in how EPFIs address the implementation of the guidelines in a project's finance decision making, how they implement it in practice and, perhaps more importantly, whether the implementation will have a positive effect on project sustainability. Future analyses and research should address these gaps.

# HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT OF THE EPs

Project finance is often used for financing large projects such as infrastructure- or energy-related projects. Because of their size, these projects - including power plants, chemical processing plants, mines and transportation infrastructure — often have a significant effect on the environment and communities located nearby, although the share of project finance in the total lending portfolio of finance institutions is rather small. Well-known examples of projects discussed in this paper, with respect to their environmental and societal impacts, are the Chinese Three Gorges Dam Project (Jackson and Sleigh 2000; Wu et al. 2004), the Turkish Ilisu Dam Project (Morvaridi 2004) and the Baku-Tiblisi-Ceyhan pipeline (Balch 2012). The discussion about such projects frequently centres on the trade-off between economic and developmental benefits on the one hand, and ecological and societal risks on the other hand.

In order to encourage responsible and sound environmental and social policies in project finance, major project financiers created the EPs in 2003. They are a credit risk management framework for determining, assessing and managing environmental and social risk in project finance transactions, and are an example of a voluntary code of conduct that is a direct offshoot of the environmental and social standards of the World Bank Group. The IFC, the World Bank Group's private sector lending arm, provided and continues to provide through internal policy revisions much of the present base of the EPs' environmental and social sustainability architecture.

It is worth noting that prior NGO attempts and the beginning of advocacy campaigns denouncing the excesses of financial institutions for social and environmental oversights began with the 2003 birth of the Collevecchio Declaration on Financial Institutions and Sustainability, widely considered an EP progenitor. The Declaration lists six commitments to be incorporated into financial operations: sustainability; "do no harm"; responsibility; accountability; transparency; and sustainable markets and governance. Financial institutions were requested to integrate these commitments into their business (O'Sullivan and O'Dwyer 2009).

As a response to NGO pressure, some of the biggest project finance institutions met in 2002 in order to draft environmental and social risk management principles for project finance (O'Sullivan and O'Dwyer 2009). The EPs were launched in 2003 by the banks presented in Table 1 (see also Balch 2012).

Founding Equator Banks	Country
ABN AMRO	The Netherlands
Barclays	UK
Citigroup	US
WestLB	Germany
Credit Lyonnais (Calyon)	France
Credit Suisse	Switzerland
HypoVereinsbank (Unicredit)	Germany
Rabobank	The Netherlands
The Royal Bank of Scotland	UK
Westpac	Australia

#### Table 1: Founding EPFIs

Source: O'Sullivan and O'Dwyer (2009).

Currently, 78 EPFIs have signed the principles. According to Paul Watchman (2006), when there were only 40 EPFIs, these institutions accounted for at least 80 percent of the worldwide project loan market. Thus, the 2013 market share of the EP signatories should be even higher. Table 2 demonstrates that 76 percent of the global project arrangers are signatories of the EPs. Consequently, we may state that globally the majority of project assessment should follow the EP guidelines where applicable.

The EPs are based on the IFC's performance standards of environmental and social sustainability (IFC 2011; 2012), and are structured in eight performance standards to be met by IFC clients. These standards are:

- assessment and management of environmental and social risks and impacts;
- labour and working conditions;
- resource efficiency and pollution prevention;
- community health, safety and security;
- land acquisition and involuntary resettlement;
- biodiversity conservation and sustainable management of living natural resources;
- indigenous peoples; and
- cultural heritage (IFC 2012).

The similarity between the IFC performance standards and the EPs can be seen in the following abbreviated list of the 10 EPs in their most current version. The following principles are process-oriented and a guideline in how to assess environmental and social issues. They do not, however, regulate the outcomes of the assessment. The 10 EPs are (in abbreviated version):

- 1. Review and categorization: EPs describe three risk categories (A, B and C)<sup>2</sup> as categorized in IFC's social and environmental screening criteria.
- 2. Environmental and social assessment: A mandatory prerequisite for the client seeking financing and required to be done to the satisfaction of an EPFI.
- 3. Applicable environmental and social standards: For projects located in non-Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development (OECD) countries, and in those not designated as high income, the assessment will refer to the applicable IFC performance standards and the applicable industry specific Environment, Health, and Safety Guidelines.
- 4. Environmental and social management system and EPs action plan: Drawing upon results of EP III and conclusions thereof, the client/borrower must prepare action plans describing and prioritizing between mitigation measures, monitoring and corrective actions, the appropriate details of which align with the potential severity of anticipated risks.
- 5. Stakeholder engagement: This is required for category A and B projects. It requires the client, host country or third party expert to engage with affected communities in a culturally appropriate manner, seeking their free, informed and prior consent about the project.
- 6. Grievance mechanism: The EPs require that the client establish a grievance mechanism appropriate to the level of risks and adverse impacts of the projects and whose existence should be brought to the attention of the affected communities.
- Independent review: The EPs require an "independent expert"—independent of the borrower — to review documents on social and environmental assessment, environmental and social management systems, and environmental performance assessment procedures to inform on the due diligence process.
- 8. Covenants: This refers to covenants with the host country, compliance with the assessment procedure, periodic reports and, where applicable and necessary, a decommissioning plan.

<sup>2</sup> The categories are as follows: category A — projects with potential significant adverse social or environmental impacts that are diverse, irreversible or unprecedented; category B — projects with potentially limited adverse social or environmental impacts that are few in number, generally site-specific, largely reversible and readily addressed through mitigation measures; and category C — projects with minimal or no social or environmental impacts (The EPs 2013).

	· ·	
Project Arranger	Country	EP Member
Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group	Japan	Yes
State Bank of India	India	No
Sumitomo Mutsui Financial Group	Japan	Yes
Mizuho Financial Group	Japan	Yes
Korea Development Bank	South Korea	No
HSBC Holdings PLC	UK	Yes
Crédit Agricole CIB	France	Yes
Societé Générale	France	Yes
BNP Paribas SA	France	Yes
BBVA	Spain	Yes
Lloyds Bank	UK	Yes
Commonwealth Bank of Australia	Australia	No
ING	The Netherlands	Yes
National Australia Bank	Australia	Yes
Standard Chartered PLC	UK	Yes
IDFC Ltd	India	Yes
UniCredit	Italy/Germany	Yes
ICICI Bank Ltd	India	No
Axis Bank Ltd	India	No
ANZ Banking Corp	Australia	Yes
Citigroup	USA	Yes
RBC Capital Markets	Canada	Yes
KfW IPEX-Bank GmbH	Germany	Yes
Santander	Spain	Yes
Oversea-Chinese Banking	China	No

#### Table 2: Biggest Mandated Project Arrangers in 2012

Source: Thomson Reuters (2013).

- 9. Independent monitoring and reporting (IM & R): A client will retain an IM & R expert for category A and B projects where "appropriate."
- 10. Reporting and transparency: The EPFIs will annually report on their implementation outcomes or report frequently or scaled to the severity of potential risks. For example, EP III requires online reporting (The EPs 2013).

The magnitude of the potential impact of a project is categorized in three classes as EP 1 constitutes (The EPs 2013). In order to illustrate environmental and social issues to be addressed in a project assessment, the EP document lists a number of potential issues (ibid.), such as baseline social and environmental conditions, consideration of environmental and social alternatives, human rights, regulations, laws and treaties, and sustainable management and use of renewable natural resources. The list, however, only includes examples and is neither exhaustive nor exclusionary.

# **PROJECT FINANCE**

The EPs focus on project finance, which may take the form of financing the construction of a new capital installation or the refinancing of an existing installation, with or without improvements. A non-recourse debt is often used for capital investing. In such transactions, the lender is usually paid solely, or almost exclusively, out of the capital generated by the contracts for the projects output, such as the electricity sold by a power plant.

The borrower is usually a special purpose entity, also called a legally independent project company, which is not permitted to perform any function other than developing, owning and operating the installation. The consequence is that repayment depends primarily on the project's cash flow and on the collateral value of its assets. Additionally, the loan sum of projects is usually very high; about 50 percent of financed projects cost more than US\$1 billion. Consequently, they are financed mostly through syndicated loans with more than one lender.

Globally, project finance-related loans were US\$197.5 billion in 2012, down from US\$223.4 billion in 2011 (Thomson Reuters 2013); were this amount a country's GDP, it would be ranked around fiftieth globally. The share in the total financial product portfolio, however, is rather small given that, for instance, global banking assets in 2010 were higher than US\$10 trillion.

Though the portion of project finance in the financial market may be small, the impact of projects may be caused by their size and their sectors. The biggest project completed in 2012 was Ichthys LNG Pty Ltd in Australia, an offshore natural gas field with US\$16 billion. Five out of the 10 biggest projects in 2012 were in the oil and gas sector, followed by two projects in transportation, and one in leisure and property, power, and industry, respectively. In total, the 10 biggest projects globally comprised a package of US\$55 billion. The average project proceeds in 2012 were US\$365 million with power, transportation, leisure and property, oil and gas, and mining as the five biggest sectors (Thomson Reuters 2013). Other studies mention natural resources - such as mines, pipelines, oil fields and infrastructure (toll roads, bridges, telecommunications systems and power plants) - as the most common applications of project finance (Esty 2004).

# PROJECT FINANCE SUSTAINABILITY RISKS

What are project finance sustainability risks? In order to understand the type and the scope of these risks, we discuss the controversial Sakhalin II project. It is by no means a typical or representative project, but illustrates the complexity, impact and size of a project funded by project finance. A systematic analysis of sustainability risks of projects is still to be conducted.

#### THE SAKHALIN II PROJECT

Sakhalin II is the second phase of the biggest integrated oil and gas project, and it includes the largest liquefied natural gas (LNG) processing facilities ever built. The first phase (Sakhalin I) began in 1999, before beginning its second phase 10 years later. Sakhalin II is operated by a consortium that consists of Gazprom Sakhalin (50 percent plus one), Shell Sakhalin (27.5 percent minus one), Mitsui Sakhalin (12.5 percent) and Diamond Gas (10 percent), and is better known as Sakhalin Energy Investment Company (SEIC) (see Table 3). The Sakhalin II project embodies a degree of complexity because its host country, Russia, strives to position itself as an energy player under the state-owned energy company Gazprom. True to the EPs' definition of project finance as large, complex and expensive projects, Sakhalin II was initially estimated at US\$10 billion but doubled to US\$20 billion in 2005, pending full and complete costing of residual incoming contract costs (Bradshaw 2007).

The oil and gas development is located on the 76,400 km<sup>2</sup> Sakhalin Island off the coast of Russia, between the Sea of Okhotsk and the Sea of Japan. Sakhalin II is made up of three offshore platforms, offshore and onshore pipelines, a processing facility on the island, an LNG facility and an oil export terminal.

SEIC's investments, along with its proposed expansion into Sakhalin III, are under discussion due to serious social and environment assessment issues and potential impacts (Bradshaw 2007). In a 2006 report by UK-based Friends of Earth and World Wildlife Fund, the key concerns of environmental activists is the danger posed to endangered western gray whales (Friends of the Earth 2006). For example, the report argues that the pipelines have a disruptive effect on whales' breeding and feeding stream beds, and the salmons' spawning streams and migratory pathways (ibid.).

Furthermore, environmental NGOs argue that Aniva Bay, the home base of the oil and gas field's export terminal, falls under the course of toxic oil and gas effluents from project activities, affecting the area's ecosystem and, particularly, fishing activities. In addition to these concerns are the potential of disruptive seismic activities to subterranean oil pipelines in the area and the increased marine traffic facilitating oil shipment. NGOs argue that these would facilitate circumstances for a future oil spill disaster. Another continuing issue is the unknown and incalculable impact on endangered species, including 11 bird species listed in the Red Book of the International Union for the Conservation of Nature, 22 listed in the Red Book of the Russian Federation and 39 species listed in the Red Book of the Sakhalin Region.<sup>3</sup> The report indicates that fishing is a source of food for the Nivkh peoples, but since 1999, the locals suggest that they have seen the fish stocks fall dramatically, an incidence they attribute to Sakhalin project activities.

In the course of the development of this integrated oil and gas project, SEIC has encountered criticism from multiple stakeholders. European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) — then a potential funder characterized SEIC's 2003 environmental and social impact assessment as unacceptable and pulled out of the project.

In contrast to NGO criticism, project financiers and investors argue that the Sakhalin project adds 4.5 percent to the world's LNG capacity, meeting 9.5 percent of Japan's and six percent of South Korea's gas needs.<sup>4</sup> Furthermore, Gazprom (one of the major project sponsors) argues that it takes social responsibility and nature conservation seriously, actively working with all stakeholders in

<sup>3</sup> See www.banktrack.org.

<sup>4</sup> See www.shell.com/global/aboutshell/major-projects-2/sakhalin. html for more details.

Financial Institution	Product/Service	Sum (in US\$ billion)	EPFI
Bank of Tokyo Mitsubishi UFJ, Japan	Corporate loan	358	Yes
Barclays, UK	Corporate loan	19.1	Yes
BNP Paribas, France	Corporate loan	3.825	Yes
Credit Suisse Group, Switzerland	Advising, corporate loan	1.7	Yes
Mizuho, Japan	Corporate loan	0.358	Yes
Royal Bank of Scotland, UK	Corporate loan	7.45	Yes
Société Générale, France	Corporate loan	2	Yes
Standard Chartered, UK	Corporate loan	0.3	Yes
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, Japan	Corporate loan	0.7*	Yes

Source: www.banktrack.org.

Japan Bank for International Cooperation is involved as an export credit agency; Sumitumo Mitsui Bank loan is estimated. \*Estimated on the basis of involvement in Sakhalin I.

order to achieve a balance between social, economic and environmental factors.<sup>5</sup> These activities contributed to Sakhalin Energy's win of the People-Investor Contest 2013, which awards best and innovative practices of socially responsible business.<sup>6</sup>

The Sakhalin project description and its financing institutions demonstrate that nearly all involved financiers are EPFIs and, therefore, should have followed the EP guidelines. It seems, however, that the application of the EPs does not create a much clearer picture with regard to project sustainability. The questions are why the project is criticized significantly by environmental NGOs and why some financial institutions, such as EBRD, have pulled out of the project on the one hand, and why it is rewarded with corporate social responsibility awards and supported by other significant financiers on the other. The Sakhalin project demonstrates the global nature of project finance. The syndicate financing Sakhalin consists of financiers from four countries that are regulated differently and investing in a project located in a third country. The project fulfills characteristics that are typical for project finance: large size; significant social, economic and environmental impacts; international collaboration; different, and sometimes conflicting, interests of stakeholders; and longterm effects.

As the description of the Sakhalin project demonstrates, project finance is often connected with sustainability risks. There are usually three types of sustainability risks associated with project finance:

- Financed projects have an impact on the environment and communities in the region where the project is implemented, termed the "inside-out relation" (Porter and Kramer 2006). This is valid for many business activities. Big projects, however, create more significant impacts than smaller business activities.
- The projects itself may be impacted by environmental or societal risks. This refers to the so-called "outsidein relation" (ibid.). The income of a project may suffer from environmental risks, such as extreme weather events, strikes by people working for projects, or NGO or government blockades. Consequently, these risks have an impact on the project's financial return and on the project financier.
- Projects are subject to reputation risks. Controversies in the news or on websites may not only affect project sponsors, but project financiers as well. Nearly all EP signatories have already been criticized on popular websites and news channels, with respect to their involvement in controversial projects, in the roles of project financier, financial consultant or others.<sup>7</sup>

Having introduced the main sustainability risks of project finance, we will describe the EPs as a private code of conduct founded to help managing sustainability risks.

<sup>5</sup> See www.gazprom.com/nature/ecology/ for more information.

<sup>6</sup> See www.sakhalinenergy.ru/en/media-centre/news/item. wbp?article\_id=0854a25a-2172-4df2-93c7-80b4f0f998b0&date=05%C2% A0December%C2%A02013 for more information.

<sup>7</sup> For example, Credit Suisse was criticized for its role as a financial advisor for the Sakhalin project. See http://wwf.panda.org/wwf\_news/ press\_releases/special\_coverage/sakhalin/. A Google search for Credit Suisse and Sakhalin returns more than 80,000 hits.

# THE EPs AS AN EXAMPLE OF A PRIVATE CODE OF CONDUCT

Regulations were issued without exception by public regulatory bodies for a long time. The traditional position has always been that the nation-state commands the means and capability to superintend business activities and backs it up with coercive power in necessary circumstances. Recent regulatory examples and crises, such as the last financial crisis, show, however, that public regulation can fail, may be too weak or does not interfere deliberately.

In addition to public, state-based regulation, two other forms of governance exist. On the one hand, international regulations occur in order to regulate issues of international impact that are increasing as a result of globalization. On the other hand, NGOs introduce private codes of conducts and regulations in order to self-regulate, and to design and enforce rules on themselves (Haufler 2013; Abbott and Snidal 2009). Accordingly, various organizations have each set regulatory architectures and standards to self-regulate.

Industrial self-regulation comprises a variety of issues, such as quality standards or assurance (i.e., the International Organization for Standardization), reporting standards (i.e., The Global Reporting Initiative) or environmental issues (i.e., Responsible Care, a regulatory scheme for the Chemical Industry [Barnett and King 2008; Bernstein and Cashore 2007] and the Carbon Disclosure Project, whose members commit to publish their carbon emissions in a database [PWC and Carbon Disclosure Project 2013]). Within the financial industry, a response to this governance evolution has taken the form of voluntary codes of conduct or, more accurately, transnational private regulations for institutional investors (i.e., the Principles for Responsible Investment [2012]), for banks and the insurance business (i.e., the UNEP Finance Initiative [2012]) and for project finance (i.e., the Equator Principles [The EPs 2013]). All of the codes of conduct are process oriented instead of outcome oriented. Most of them do not impose any consequences on their signatories in case of non-compliance.

Voluntary codes of conduct reflect an organization or firm's attempt to convey a positive image by subscribing to a conduct that is responsive to a normative socioenvironmental gap. Thus, by subscribing private codes of conducts, organizations can respond to reputational challenges (Wright and Rwabizambuga 2006; Thistlethwaite 2012). The literature on voluntary codes points to two streams of scholarships — the first suggests a normative persuasion, as when corporations adopt generally accepted behaviour, which earns trust among stakeholders (Bondy, Matten and Moon 2004), and, consequently, legitimizes corporations to conduct their business (Suchman 1995). This stream is called the normative view. The second stream, called the instrumentalist view, of voluntary codes states that voluntary codes help shape corporate objectives towards some altruistic ends, the ultimate outcomes of which are profits. The past and current spectre of human rights abuse associated with outsourcing, as well as negative environmental impacts of large projects, are some rationales for adopting voluntary codes.

Other scholars assert that codes of conduct are a formalization of corporate values or practices designed to guide behaviour of business and enable them to manage different political, social and economic cultures in international business. Consequently, signing private codes of conduct comes from a desire to control stakeholders instead of a motivation to become more environmentally, economically and socially responsible (Bondy, Matten and Moon 2008). Bondy, Matten and Moon (2004) further assert that voluntary codes, such as the EPs, typically signal an intention towards corporate social responsibility and have certain stakeholders as intended targets. The EPs, then, are often couched in blanket statements lacking in specificity. And so it is not uncommon for an infrastructure project, especially situated in poor countries, to build a school or a health facility in order to demonstrate corporate citizenship, instead of focussing on the environmental, social and sustainable performance of the project itself.

## **EP REVISIONS**

Since their launch in 2003, the EPs have undergone three revisions (see Table 4). The first was conducted in 2006 (EP II), the second in 2012 and the third in June 2013 (EP III). These revisions were motivated by three drivers. First, they are a result of priorities and recommendations from the EPs' strategic review, with substantial input provided by project finance players, facilitators and civil society. Second, revisions were conducted due to changes in the IFC performance standards, which deliver the environmental and social criteria for the EPs. Third, changes were applied in order to address consistency and to support EP implementation. As indicated in this paper, the impetus for these revisions is also due to public pressures by NGOs such as BankTrack and the Berne Declaration.<sup>8</sup>

It is perhaps fair to observe that the first revision in 2006 may have been backward looking in the sense that the EPs had been operational for three years. As such, much of its first revision was conducted as a response to the "first test" of implementation. The second revision went beyond the lessons and experiences of the first review to include both contemporary and rapidly evolving issues, such human rights and climate change. Table 4 and the following sections present these changes in detail.

<sup>8~</sup> See www.banktrack.org and www.evb.ch/en, respectively, for more information.

Topics	Version I	Version II	Version III		
	Changes reflecting priorities and recommendations from the EP strategic review				
Scope	Lending	Lending, project finance advisory	Project finance, advisory, project-related corporate loans, bridge loans		
Reporting	No format required	High-level reporting: number of transactions screened and closed	Minimum requirements: number of projects closed, including categorization, sector, region and whether an independent review has taken place. Project names for project finance deals (subject to client consent)		
			Online summary of environmental and social impact assessment		
	Changes to align with updated IFC standards				
Sustainability Issues	Environmental assessment (no social risks, climate change not mandatory)	Social risks due diligence, free prior informed consultation.	Social and relevant human rights due diligence Free prior informed consent. Addressing human rights		
		Climate change as part of World Bank guidelines and general due	Guiding principles on Business and human rights and UN Protect Respect and Remedy Framework		
		diligence	Climate change: Attention in due diligence for high emitting projects		
	Changes to address consistency and support implementation				
Information Sharing		Informally	Formalized approach to share information related to environmental and social matters with other mandated financial institutions		
Country Designation	Assessment in high-income OECD countries equivalent to IFC standards	Assessment in high- income OECD countries a substitute for IFC standards	Assessment process in designated countries (EP list) equivalent to IFC standards		
Glossary of Terms			Glossary of terms for loan documentation		
Implementation Notes	*Best practice	For loan documentation	For loan documentation.		
			Under development — implementation notes for climate change reporting requirements, and questions and answers on scope.		

Table 4: Changes in the EPs Versions I, II and II

Source: Authors, EPs. \*As per internal EPFI procedures and policy.

#### CHANGES REFLECTING PRIORITIES AND RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE EP STRATEGIC REVIEW

Regarding their scope, the 2012 revision (which culminated in EP III) expanded the 2006 requirements to include project-related loans and bridge loans. The EPFIs perhaps realized that these modes of financing, despite their relatively short maturity and size, could potentially aid in abating unsustainable social and environmental project finance activities. It was also, however, an ultimate recognition on the part of EPFIs, and to some extent an appeasement to civil society, especially BankTrack. BankTrack had argued incessantly that EPFIs needed to widen their assessment and compliance activities to include these hitherto untouched areas, including the need to respect human rights and climate change. The response was to additionally disclose the number of transactions screened.

With respect to reporting, the EPs no longer require only information on implementation, but also the structure and

staffing personnel involved with implementation. This includes mandatory details on training during the first year of EP adoption in order to demonstrate progress in addressing the EP assessment procedures and training events.

The third version of the EPs also addresses clients' public reporting. Prior to EP III, there was no requirement to do so. By public reporting, the EPs mean, "Online summary of Environmental and Social Impact Assessment, as well as [reporting] Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emission levels for projects emitting over 100,000 tonnes of CO2 annually during operational phase" (The EPs 2013). This new guideline accepts the importance of addressing emissions of financial sector clients, so-called indirect, or financed, emissions (Collins 2012).

#### CHANGES TO ALIGN WITH THE UPDATED IFC PERFORMANCE STANDARDS

Regarding social issues, in the second version of the EPs, two major subcategories were social risk due diligence and free, prior, informed consultation (The EPs 2011). With the advent of EP III, more focus and emphasis are laid on the issue of human rights, reflecting their role as a contemporary and increasingly emerging issue. Instances of deleterious effects of projects on human rights are the Baku-Tblisi-Ceyan oil pipeline (Waters 2003), or the Kajbar and Dal hydropower projects in Sudan (Bosshard 2011). Perhaps it is the EPs' intention to reiterate that as affected by or as the affecting element of project finance, human beings are, after all, the focus of socio-environmental policies of project finance. It is this anthropocentricity of project finance that has led the EPFIs to expand social risks, indicating particular focus on relevant human rights due diligence such as free, prior and informed consent, instead of consultation.

In 2006, for the first time, changes were introduced regarding climate change. EPFIs were to report on climate based on the World Bank Group's environmental, health and safety guidelines and general due diligence. The revised EP III highlights in its preamble the need for heightened due diligence, requires alternative analysis of high-emitting projects in line with IFC's performance standard 3 and focusses on climate change issues. Finally, the EPs had integrated climate change issues into their agenda. Perhaps the most salient aspect with respect to climate change is a mandatory requirement for projects emitting more than 100,000 tonnes per year to report their GHG emission. Projects emitting at least 25,000 tonnes are encouraged, but not required, to report the GHG emission.

#### CHANGES TO ADDRESS CONSISTENCY AND SUPPORT EP IMPLEMENTATION

Prior to 2013, EPFIs conducted information sharing informally, as might be expected in most competitive industries. Pagano and Jappelli (1993, 1693) argue, however, that "information sharing may increase the degree of competitiveness within credit markets, increase the efficiency in the allocation of credit, increase the volume of lending, and may also have policy implications." With the most recent EP revision, EPFI members agree to share social and environmental issues with other mandated financial institutions.

Changes were also conducted with respect to designated countries. These are countries with robust environmental and social governance, legislation systems and institutional capacity designed to protect their people and the natural environment (The EPs 2013). As per the last EP revision leading to EP II, these countries operated with assessment and approval processes that were seen as acceptable substitutes for the IFC performance standards. Thus, the noticeable change is that designated countries are highincome OECD countries, and the appropriateness of this list is a subject of current review. First introduced in 2006 as guidelines for loan documentation, implementation notes are under development with regard to climate change and reporting requirements. These notes set the stage for internal EPFI orientation in this regard. They address the implementation of the EPs in their member institutions, an issue that has been neglected during the earlier years of the EPs.

The changes indicated above mean that the EPs continue to evolve against the background of a rapidly shifting socioenvironmental landscape. Some changes or pressures for change have been civil society-driven, notably from BankTrack. Others have emanated from internal policy changes within the World Bank Group, particularly the IFC, which provides the basis for many of EP revisions. Undoubtedly, all of these changes have affected project communities in one way or another, but some important issues still remain unclear in the third version of the EPs. These issues are:

- Potential liabilities for environmental infractions involving, for example, pollution, would likely depend on the host country regulators. The disclaimer in the EPs, unfortunately, disavows this and any potential project liabilities. Project tracking of emissions may be a first step, but the question then would be, to what end? Would repeated violations of this requirement potentially lead to project decommissioning? How feasible is this alternative, given that it may set off domino effects leading to potential client default on loan obligations?
- A particular problem of the EPs' requirement to disclose CO<sub>2</sub> emissions is the validity of the estimation and the measurement of GHG emissions, if external auditors do not verify them. Another problem is the willingness of the project to disclose the emissions.
- Apart from required involvement in learning events to better internalize the EPs' requirements and to share mutual experiences, there is lack of specificity in exactly how EPFIs are to engage in information sharing. If EPFIs limit themselves with respect to information sharing, because of trade secrets or customers' privacy, of what value, then, is this arrangement? If it is unenforceable, as it is, does not sharing information constitute a breach of the EPs' governance rules, given that these are only voluntary codes?
- With respect to the new proposal on designated countries, this paper notes that even high quality standards, as those deemed in these countries, may not fulfill IFC criteria. Canada, for instance, is criticized for how it assesses and qualifies the risks of the oil sands business, and while the Royal Bank of Canada announced in 2004 that it has applied the

EPs to an oil sands project in Canada (Miles 2013), environmental regulations should already be in place that make the EPs' guidelines unnecessary.

# CONCLUSION: THE EPs — A SUCCESSFUL TOOL OR WINDOW DRESSING?

Almost a decade after the launch of the EPs, there is still a mixed verdict as to their implementation outcomes. On one end of the spectrum, proponents laud their usefulness, though in seemingly measured tones. At the other end, and this seems to be in the majority of papers and comments on the EPs, many authors state that the EPs, though constructed as bold and voluntary — if not visionary — suffer from timid implementation or seemingly slow learning on the part of EPFIs (Schepers 2011; Spitzeck 2009). This often contrasts with other organizations and institutions that have the benefit of implementation experience, such as the World Bank Group. Consequently, these 10 years of existence can be equated to the phase of an adolescent still seeking to establish relevance in an atmosphere of flux and uncertainty.

A small research stream of scholars, however, straddles both worlds, asserting that the problems are not the EPs themselves, but rather the the EPFIs (Amalric 2005; Conley and Williams 2011; Wright and Rwabizambuga 2006; O'Sullivan and O'Dwyer 2009). The preamble to the EPs states that "[t]he Equator Principles are intended to serve as a common baseline and framework for the implementation of each EPFIs internal environmental and social policies, procedures and standards related to its project financing projects" (The EPs 2013, 2). Therefore, differences in implementing the respective procedures arising from variations of each EPFI's organizational, strategic management and lending practices create a variety of applications of the EPs inside the EPFIs. The existing implementation guidelines that can be found in the third version of the EPs attempt to mitigate some charges levelled against EPFIs for inconsistency in implementation and absence of unified monitoring efforts. The question is if it will ever be possible to create a benchmark for EP implementation. Without such a benchmark, however, it will not be possible to assess the performance of project financiers with regard to implementing the EPs.

Because of the size and the scope of projects that focus on energy, transportation, oil and gas, and mining, the economic, societal and environmental impact of projects and project finance is significant, though it is not a major part of the lending portfolios of many banks and other financial institutions. Projects are often financed in third-party countries through syndicated loans with international participants. Because of the international scope of project finance, national regulations are often not applicable. The EPs, especially EP III, try to solve this problem.

Three main sustainability risks are connected with project finance: First, projects have an impact on the environment, society and communities affected by projects. Second, environmental, societal and sustainability risks may have an impact on the financial performance of projects. Third, projects are subject to reputation risks. It seems that the discussion around EPs mainly focusses on reputation risks. Though many EPFIs installed expert teams for social and environmental assessments, analyses of the implementation of the EPs and the impact on financing decisions on projects and on project financiers are still rare.

The EPs were founded as a reaction to NGO criticism in order to legitimate the activities of project financiers (O'Sullivan and O'Dwyer 2009). Thus, the question is still open whether they will stay a reactive measure to legitimate project finance and to enhance reputation, or whether they are an effective guideline to guarantee the sustainability of projects. To paraphrase Porter and Kramer (2006), will they stay an instrument that manages outsidein relations of financiers or will they be able to regulate the inside-out relations and therefore the societal impact of project finance?

The EPs' revisions erased inconsistencies, advanced the transparency and improved the applicability of the principles. NGO demands for compliance mechanisms in cases of non-compliance of EPFIs with the EPs, however, have not been addressed yet.

The analysis of the EPs conducted in this paper identified gaps in the literature that should be analyzed in the future. One such gap is the question about the implementation of the principles. How are the EPs implemented into the project finance decision-making process and how do they influence project assessment beyond social and environmental factors? A second gap exists with respect to the application of the principles. How do the EPFIs apply the principles and how do they inform stakeholders about the implementation process? If the EPs are applied, what consequences does the application have for projects? Do they become more sustainable and take environmental and social issues into account more than without the EPs? Lastly, an analysis should be undertaken on how the EPs, as a guideline for a relatively small part of the lending portfolio, influence the general sustainability of financial products and services of EPFIs beyond project finance. These gaps should be addressed in future analyses and research.

# **WORKS CITED**

- Abbott, Kenneth W. and Duncan Snidal. 2009. "The Governance Triangle: Regulatory Standards Institutions and the Shadow of the State." In *The Politics of Global Regulation*, edited by Walter Mattli and Ngaire Woods, 44–88. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Amalric, Franck. 2005. "The Equator Principles: A Step Towards Sustainability?" CCRS Working Paper No. 01/05.
- Balch, Oliver. 2012. "Sustainable Finance: How Far Have the Equator Principles Gone?" *The Guardian*, November 15.
- Barnett, Michael L. and Andrew A. King. 2008. "Good Fences Make Good Neighbors: A Longitudinal Analysis of an Industry Self-regulations Institution." *Academy of Management Journal* 51 (6): 1150–70. doi:10.5465/ amj.2008.35732609.
- Bernstein, Steven and Benjamin Cashore. 2007. "Can Nonstate Global Governance be Legitimate? An Analytical Framework." *Regulation & Governance* 1 (4): 347–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-5991.2007.00021.x.
- Bondy, Krista, Dirk Matten and Jeremy Moon. 2004. "The Adoption of Voluntary Codes of Conduct in MNCs: A Three-Country Comparative Study." *Business and Society Review* 109 (4): 449–77. doi:10.1111/j.0045-3609.2004.00205.x.

- Bosshard, Peter. 2011. "New Chinese Dam Project Fuels Ethnic Conflict in Sudan." In *International Rivers*. International Rivers.
- Bradshaw, Mike. 2007. "The 'Greening' of Global Project Financing: The Case of the Sakhalin-II Offshore Oil and Gas Project." *Canadian Geographer/Le Géographe canadien* 51 (3): 255–79. doi:10.1111/j.1541-0064.2007.00178.x.
- Collins, Ben. 2012. "Bankrolling Climate Disruption: The Impacts of the Banking Sector's Financed Emissions." San Francisco and Nijmegen, The Netherlands: Rainforest Action Network and Banktrack.
- Conley, John M. and Cynthia A. Williams. 2011. "Global Banks as Global Sustainability Regulators?: The Equator Principles." *Law & Policy* 33 (4): 542–75. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9930.2011.00348.x.
- Esty, Benjamin C. 2004. "Why Study Large Projects? An Introduction to Research on Project Finance." *European*

*Financial Management* 10 (2): 213–24. doi:10.1111/j.1354-7798.2004.00247.x.

- Friends of the Earth. 2006. Broken Promises: How Shell's Non-compliance with the OECD Guidelines Harms People and the Environment. London, UK: Friends of the Earth.
- Haufler, Virginia. 2013. A Public Role for the Private Sector: Industry Self-regulation in a Global Economy. Carnegie Endowment.
- IFC. 2011. "Update of IFC's Policy and Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability, and Access to Information Policy." Washington, DC: IFC.
- ——. 2012. "IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability." Washington, DC: IFC.
- Jackson, Sukhan and Adrian Sleigh. 2000. "Resettlement for China's Three Gorges Dam: Socio-economic Impact and Institutional Tensions." *Communist and Post-Communist Studies* 33 (2): 223–41. doi:10.1016/S0967-067X(00)00005-2.
- Miles, Kate. 2013. *The Origins of International Investment Law*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Morvaridi, Behrooz. 2004. "Resettlement, Rights to Development and the Ilisu Dam, Turkey." *Development and Change* 35 (4): 719–41. doi:10.1111/j.0012-155X.2004.00377.x.
- O'Sullivan, Niamh and Brendan O'Dwyer. 2009. "Stakeholder Perspectives on a Financial Sector Legitimation Process." *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal* 22 (4): 553–87.
- Pagano, Marco and Tullio Jappelli. 1993. "Information Sharing in Credit Markets." *The Journal of Finance* 48 (5): 1693–718. doi:10.2307/2329064.
- Porter, Michael E. and Mark R. Kramer. 2006. "Strategy & Society: The Link Between Competitive Advantage and Corporate Social Responsibility." *Harvard Business Review* 84 (12): 78–92.
- Principles for Responsible Investment. 2012. "Annual Report 2012." London, UK: Principles for Responsible Investment.
- PWC and Carbon Disclosure Project. 2013. "Global 500 Climate Change Report 2013." London: Carbon Disclosure Project.
- Schepers, Donald H. 2011. "The Equator Principles: A Promise in Progress?" *Corporate Governance* 11 (1): 90–106.

- Spitzeck, Heiko. 2009. "Organizational Moral Learning: What, If Anything, Do Corporations Learn from NGO Critique?" *Journal of Business Ethics* 88 (1): 157–73. doi:10.1007/s10551-009-0112-2.
- Suchman, Mark C. 1995. "Managing Legitimacy: Strategic and Institutional Approaches." The Academy of Management Review 20 (3): 571–610. doi:10.2307/258788.
- The EPs. 2011. *The Equator Principles*. www.equator-principles.com.
- ——. 2013. *The Equator Principles*. Geneva: The Equator Principles.
- Thistlethwaite, Jason. 2012. "The ClimateWise Principles: Self-Regulating Climate Change Risks in the Insurance Sector." *Business & Society* 51 (1): 121–47. doi:10.1177/0007650311427595.
- Thomson Reuters. 2013. "Project Finance Review Full Year 2012." New York: Thomson Reuters.
- UNEP Finance Initiative. 2012. UNEP Statement of Commitment by Financial Institutions (FI) on Sustainable Development. UNEP Finance Initiative 2012. www.unepfi.org/statements/statement/index.html.
- Watchman, Paul. 2006. "Banks, Business and Human Rights." *Butterworths Journal of International Banking and Financial Law* 2: 47–50.
- Waters, Christopher P. M. 2003. "Who Should Regulate the Baku-Tbilisi-Ceyhan Pipeline." *Georgetown International Law Review* 16: 403.
- Wright, Christopher and Alexis Rwabizambuga. 2006. "Institutional Pressures, Corporate Reputation, and Voluntary Codes of Conduct: An Examination of the Equator Principles." *Business and Society Review* 111 (1): 89–117. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8594.2006.00263.x.
- Wu, Jianguo, Jianhui Huang, Xingguo Han, Xianming Gao, Fangliang He, Mingxi Jiang, Zhigang Jiang, Richard
  B. Primack and Zehao Shen. 2004. "The Three Gorges Dam: An Ecological Perspective." *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 2 (5): 241–48. doi:10.2307/3868264.

# **ABOUT CIGI**

The Centre for International Governance Innovation is an independent, non-partisan think tank on international governance. Led by experienced practitioners and distinguished academics, CIGI supports research, forms networks, advances policy debate and generates ideas for multilateral governance improvements. Conducting an active agenda of research, events and publications, CIGI's interdisciplinary work includes collaboration with policy, business and academic communities around the world.

CIGI's current research programs focus on three themes: the global economy; global security & politics; and international law.

CIGI was founded in 2001 by Jim Balsillie, then co-CEO of Research In Motion (BlackBerry), and collaborates with and gratefully acknowledges support from a number of strategic partners, in particular the Government of Canada and the Government of Ontario.

Le CIGI a été fondé en 2001 par Jim Balsillie, qui était alors co-chef de la direction de Research In Motion (BlackBerry). Il collabore avec de nombreux partenaires stratégiques et exprime sa reconnaissance du soutien reçu de ceux-ci, notamment de l'appui reçu du gouvernement du Canada et de celui du gouvernement de l'Ontario.

For more information, please visit www.cigionline.org.

# **CIGI MASTHEAD**

Managing Editor, Publications	Carol Bonnett	
Publications Editor	Jennifer Goyder	
Publications Editor	Sonya Zikic	
Assistant Publications Editor	Vivian Moser	
Media Designer	Steve Cross	
EXECUTIVE		
President	Rohinton Medhora	
Vice President of Programs	David Dewitt	
Vice President of Public Affairs	Fred Kuntz	
Vice President of Finance	Mark Menard	
COMMUNICATIONS		
Communications Specialist	Declan Kelly	dkelly@cigionline.org (1 519 885 2444 x 7356)
Public Affairs Coordinator	Erin Baxter	ebaxter@cigionline.org (1 519 885 2444 x 7265)

